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The USS SOLACE was the only hospital ship at Pearl Harbor on December 7, 
1941. What she and her crew managed to accomplish that fateful and fearful day 
is the crowning achievement of this vessel’s multi-career life which spanned over 
half a century. From the US Navy’s records: 
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1. This report summarizes actions taken during the air raid on 7 December 1941.  
2. The ship, being a hospital ship, took no offensive measures.  
3. It was not subjected to attack, and suffered no losses or damage.  
4. As soon as it was realized that air raid was on, steps were immediately taken to 

close all watertight doors and ports, and cargo ports except the two at the 
gangways, to call away rescue parties, and to prepare all hospital facilities and 
supplies for maximum service.  

5. The emergency ward of 50 beds was put together, and as many patients then in 
wards returned to duty or moved as possible.  

6. Two motor launches were immediately dispatched with rescue parties to the 
Arizona, and other boats lowered and sent on similar duty.  
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7. About 0820 hours, boat loads of casualties began to arrive, and were immediately 
taken care of by the medical personnel, assisted by available men from the deck 
divisions.  

8. At 0900 the ship got underway, having slipped it’s forward and after moorings, 
and shifted from berth X4, near Dobbin and destroyers to berth X13 in the clear.  

9. All hands worked most energetically to handle the casualty cases. Too much 
praise cannot be given to the doctors, nurses, and corpsmen of the ship.  

10. Special mention is made of the heroic action in the face of grave danger in the 
case of the first two boat crews and their stretcher parties. They boarded the 
burning Arizona, while its crew was abandoning ship, and they rescued the 
burned and injured casualties found on its deck, some very close to the flames, 
and three casualties on a camel and one man swimming in oily water that was 
aflame.  

11. After unloading at the Solace, #2 motor launch made two trips to the West 
Virginia and brought back casualties to the Solace; #1 motor launch on its second 
trip rescued several more men from the stern of the Arizona and more casualties 
from the West Virginia. On its third trip it received casualties from the West 
Virginia. On its fourth trip, it picked up some men in the water and transferred 
them to a gig. Shortly thereafter, when many men had jumped into the water after 
an explosion on board that ship the boat picked up over three dozen. The surface 
was covered with flames. The boat engineer, jumped into the water to rescue an 
Ensign. The Coxswain had to get into the water to quench his own smoldering 
jumper. With this boat load delivered to the Solace and a quick change of clothes 
for its crew, the boat took a salvage party to the Oklahoma where it remained 
until about midnight.  

12. Assisting the ship during the most difficult time were about six medical officers 
from other ships, one civilian doctor (U.S.P.H.S.), five volunteer nurses part of 
first day and eleven part of second day. In addition to the ship's chaplain, 
Protestant, two Catholic chaplains, from Nevada and Tangier, were aboard most 
of the first two days.  

         /s/ BENJAMIN PERLMAN, Commanding Officer 
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~ THE FIRST OF THREE CAREERS ~ 
 
The SOLACE was originally built by Newport News Shipbuilding (NNS) for the 
Clyde Steamship Company as the passenger liner SS IROQUOIS. She and a 
sister ship, named SHAWNEE, were contracted for in late 1925. They were 
assigned NNS hull numbers 306 and 307, respectively.  
 
The keel for the IROQUOIS was laid on March 26, 1926 along with the keels for 
two other ships; all part of a gala and historic event when NNS launched nine 
vessels that busy spring day. IROQUOIS was delivered thirteen months later, 
and her sister ship was completed in July of 1927.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
These vessels were virtually identical. A little over 409 feet in length, they each 
had a beam of 62 feet and displaced 8,650 tons. Both ships were fitted with six 
boilers and twin geared turbines which provided them with a top speed of 18 
knots. Their balanced appearance was due, in part, to the inclusion of a fake 
funnel; the aftermost one.    
 
Designed for service along America’s 
eastern seaboard for the Clyde 
Steamship Company, these vessels 
were handsomely appointed and 
featured ornate staircases and dark-
wood paneling in their public spaces. 
They met the highest classification of 
the American Bureau of Shipping and 
were touted as the largest and fastest 
vessels in service between Florida and 
New York. Each could carry 640 
passengers in first class and 114 in 
steerage. Their crews numbered 166.   
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During the depression years, IROQUOIS and her sister ship were utilized in a 
variety of ways, including cruises to Cuba in winter and Canada in summer. 
Shortly after World War II commenced in Europe, she crossed the Atlantic for the 
first time. On her return voyage, carrying 566 American passengers from war-
torn Europe, rumors swirled that the German Navy would attempt to sink her 
despite America’s neutrality when she neared the east coast of the United 
States. Several American warships were dispatched to escort her to safety and 
the IROQUOIS arrived without incident in New York harbor on October 11, 1939. 
 
Wartime restrictions hampered her operations in the several months following 
that adventure. Consequently, her owners had no objections when IROQUOIS 
was purchased by the US Navy in mid-1940. A shipyard in New York extensively 
modified her internally, creating a 
hospital ship with a capacity for 
418 patients and accommodations 
for a complement of 466, including 
a small cadre of nurses.  
 
Typical of the interior changes was 
the creation of several large 
hospital wards. The one depicted 
here could accommodate 46 
patients. These modifications 
increased her displacement 
slightly to 8,900 tons. 
 
Renamed SOLACE, her aft, fake funnel was removed and she was painted all 
white, with bold red crosses emblazoned on her sides, funnel and top decks. The 
USS SOLACE was commissioned on August 9, 1941. Designated AH-5, she was 
assigned to the Pacific fleet and soon was home ported in Hawaii.  
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~ SOLACE FOR THE SUFFERING ~  

The SOLACE was awarded the Navy Unit Commendation for her previously 
described service during the attack at Pearl Harbor. She was the only US Navy 
hospital ship to receive this recognition during World War II. Following her 
baptism under fire on December 7, 1941, SOLACE was the sole hospital ship 
operating in the Pacific for several months.  

Nick-named “The Great White Ship”, SOLACE served in the Pacific Theatre of 
Operations throughout the entire war and participated in six major island 
invasions. Between December, 1941, and January, 1946, she steamed over 
170,000 nautical miles and provided treatment and evacuation home for over 
25,000 patients.  

Throughout this lengthy and arduous period of strenuous service, she required 
no major repairs; a tribute to the shipbuilders of Newport News and also to her 
navy crew. By the end of the war, she had accumulated seven battle stars; more 
than any other of the Navy’s hospital ships.  

Missions of mercy took her all over the Pacific. During the first year of the war, 
her crew evacuated thousands of wounded servicemen from several island 
battlefields in the South Pacific and then made repeated trips to deliver them to 
shore-based hospitals in Australia and New Zealand. 

For several months, she 
served as a station 
hospital ship in the 
harbor of Noumea, New 
Caledonia. Following 
that assignment, she 
made several trips back 
to Hawaii, transporting 
wounded to the naval 
hospital there and also 
directly to the San 
Francisco and San 
Diego naval hospitals.  

When the island of Saipan was invaded, she anchored close ashore, receiving 
casualties directly from the front lines. Exposed to enemy fire, this technique was 
repeated at Peleliu. When she left there, all of her hospital beds were filled, and 
there were additional patients placed in the crew’s quarters; a total of 584 
patients. On several other occasions, SOLACE cared for and carried over 500 
wounded to safety, even though her rated patient capacity was only 418.  
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As Allied forces advanced in an 
island-to-island invasion campaign 
during 1944, SOLACE again served 
as a station hospital ship; this time at 
the Navy’s advanced base in Ulithi. In 
February of 1945, she was dispatched 
to Iwo Jima.  

There she anchored so close to shore 
that enemy shells fell within a 100 
yards of her. Undaunted, her crew 
continued to utilize the ship’s boats 
and amphibious landing craft to 
evacuate wounded personnel from the 
blood-soaked beaches as the battle 
raged nearby. 

SOLACE evacuated over 2,000 men from Iwo Jima, making three trips to base 
hospitals located on Pacific islands that had already been captured from the 
enemy. After Iwo Jima was declared secured, she joined the invasion fleet off 
Okinawa. Over a three month period, SOLACE and her dedicated crew 
evacuated seven ship loads of casualties to shore-based hospitals in the 
Marianas. On July 1, 1945, she sailed for America’s West Coast. When the war 
ended, she was undergoing a long delayed overhaul in Portland, Oregon.   

She then participated in Operation ‘Magic Carpet’, transporting homecoming 
veterans that needed the kind of care best provided by a hospital ship. She made 
several round trips from Pearl Harbor to San Francisco over a four-month period. 
Her last humanitarian voyage ended in San Francisco in mid-January, 1946. 

SOLACE returned to the East Coast 
of the United States and was 
decommissioned at the Norfolk Navy 
Base on March 27, 1946. Turned 
over to the US War Shipping 
Administration, she was towed past 
her NNS birthplace in July and 
placed in the James River Idle Fleet 
along with hundreds of other 
vessels. But unlike so many of those 
ships, which were ultimately 
scrapped without further opportunity 
to serve, her life did not end there.  
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~ A TURKISH DELIGHT ~  

SOLACE (ex IROQUOIS) was sold by the US War Shipping Administration to the 
government-owned Turkish Maritime Lines in April of 1948. Shortly thereafter, 
she was towed to her builders’ yard in Newport News and assigned a second 
NNS Hull Number. A major conversion effort then ensued that lasted for almost a 
year.  

Completely modified internally to restore her for future use as a passenger liner, 
the work cost several hundred thousand dollars more than her original $2.3 
million cost. Externally, she retained the familiar profile she had exhibited 
throughout World War II, although her hull was painted black and her single, 
back-capped funnel no longer carried Red Cross symbols. 

A detailed survey of the vessel’s twenty-two year-old boilers and turbines, which 
had propelled her for over 500,000 miles, was conducted by NNS craftsmen. 
This inspection revealed that very little work was needed to place her machinery 
in as-good-as-new good operating condition.  

Renamed ANKARA, her passenger spaces were completely modernized. As 
rebuilt, she featured accommodations for three categories of passengers; 175 in 
first-class, 152 in second-class and 72 in steerage-class. 

The latest in post-war amenities were 
incorporated. Wooden, non-structural 
bulkheads were replaced with fire-
retardant materials. Her interior décor 
was updated and brightened. Gone 
were such things as the wicker 
furniture that had graced a cozy space 
called The Tearoom when she was 
built. Instead, bright draperies, chairs 
with chromium frames and Formica 
table tops took their place, and the 
tearoom became a dance salon.  

Once the conversion work was 
completed, she made a brief sea trial 
and was delivered to the Turkish 
government on April 12, 1949. 
ANKARA soon became the Turkish 
merchant marine’s flagship.  
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The revitalized vessel 
successfully operated in the 
Mediterranean for almost 
three decades. At some 
point in this third career, her 
hull was painted all white; 
reminiscent of her days as 
a hospital ship.  

ANKARA was popular with 
Mediterranean passengers, 
and often carried pilgrims to 
Mecca until laid up in 1977. 

After remaining idle for almost four years, and at age 54, she was sold for scrap 
in 1981; four decades after her date with destiny at Pearl Harbor. Thus ended a 
trio of fascinating and diverse careers for what had become one of the most 
famous vessels built by Newport News Shipbuilding.  

~ Postscript ~  

The story of SOLACE and 
her crew’s humanitarian 
contributions at Pearl Harbor 
most certainly deserve 
remembrance now, some 
seventy years later, as do all 
of the heroic efforts put forth 
by Americans that were there 
on December 7, 1941. If I 
had to select but a single 
iconic photo taken onboard 
that vessel during World War 
II, emblematic of the Solace 
for the Suffering provided by 
a capable, caring and 
compassionate medical staff, 
this would be the one…  
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